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Explanatory Note
 

On December 21, 2023, Onconetix,
Inc. (the “Company”) filed a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Original Form 8-K”) with the Securities
and
Exchange Commission in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Proteomedix AG (“Proteomedix”), which
Original Form 8-K was amended on
December 27, 2023. This Amendment No. 2 on Form 8-K/A (“Amendment No. 2”) further
amends the Original Form 8-K to: (i) add Item 2.01 and file the
financial statements required by Item 9.01(a) of Form 8-K and the pro
forma financial information required by Item 9.01(b) of Form 8-K that were not
included in the Original Form 8-K in reliance on the instructions
to such item; and (ii) add Item 8.01 to include certain additional information about the
business of the Company and Proteomedix. Except
as described above, all other information in the Original Form 8-K remains unchanged.
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Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition
of Assets
 

As previously reported by
 the Company in its Original Form 8-K, the Company consummated a share exchange transaction (the “Share
Exchange”) with
Proteomedix on December 15, 2023. The disclosures set forth in Item 1.01 are incorporated by reference into this Item 2.01. Additionally,
this Amendment No. 2 on Form 8-K/A amends and supplements the Original Form 8-K to include the historical audited financial statements
 of
Proteomedix and the pro forma combined financial information required by Item 9.01 of Form 8-K that were not included in the Original
Form 8-K in
reliance on the instructions to such item.
 
Item 8.01 Other Events.
 

On February 14, 2024, the
Company filed a preliminary proxy statement on Schedule 14A (the “Proxy Statement”) relating to certain matters
described
in further detail therein, including the Company’s Share Exchange with Proteomedix. The Proxy Statement contains important updates
regarding
the business of the Company and Proteomedix in the sections titled (i) “Information About the Business of the Combined
Company,” (ii) “Description of
Proteomedix’s Business,” (iii) “Onconetix’s Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” (iv) “Proteomedix
Management’s Discussion
 and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and (v) “Risk Factors,” which are incorporated
 herein by
reference.

 
Item 9.01 Financial
Statements and Exhibits.
 
(a) Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired
 

Information responsive to
Item 9.01(a) of Form 8-K is set forth in the financial statements included in the Proxy Statement on pages F-63 through
F-102, which are
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2.
 
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information 
 

Information responsive to
Item 9.01(a) of Form 8-K is set forth in the Proxy Statement on pages 76 through 83 in the section titled “Unaudited
Pro Forma
Consolidated Financial Information” and “Notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information,”
which are incorporated
herein by reference as Exhibit 99.3.
 
(d) Exhibits
 
99.1   Audited financial statements of Proteomedix for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
99.2   Unaudited financial statements of Proteomedix for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
99.3   Unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial information of the Company and Proteomedix for the periods ended September 30, 2023 and

December 31, 2022
104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
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SIGNATURE

 
Pursuant
 to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned
hereunto duly authorized.
 
  Onconetix, Inc.
     
Date: February 27, 2024 By: /s/ Bruce Harmon
    Bruce Harmon
    Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
Shareholders and Board of Directors
Proteomedix AG
Schlieren, Zurich
Switzerland
 
Opinion on the Financial
Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying
balance sheets of Proteomedix AG (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related statements of loss
and comprehensive
 loss, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position
of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December
31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
 
Going Concern Uncertainty
 
The accompanying financial statements
have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the
financial statements, the
Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raise substantial doubt about its ability
to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The financial statements
do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements
 based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control
over
financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but
not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess
 the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Zurich, Switzerland, February 14, 2024    
     
BDO AG    
     
/s/ Christoph Tschumi   /s/ Marc Furlato
     
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023.  
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Proteomedix AG
Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

ASSETS   2022     2021  
Current assets            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 470,156    $ 2,546,801 
Accounts receivable     236,683      96,211 
Inventory     95,810      110,584 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     26,280      85,632 

Total current assets     828,929      2,839,228 
               
Property and equipment     40,130      54,003 
Right of use asset     202,739      - 
Total assets   $ 1,071,798    $ 2,893,231 

               
LIABILITIES AND STOCHOLDERS’ DEFICIT              

Current Liabilities              
Convertible notes payable   $ 4,241,942    $ - 
Accrued expenses     510,578      504,766 
Operating lease liability, current     67,546      - 

Total current liabilities     4,820,066      504,766 
               
Non-current liabilities              

Convertible notes payable     1,406,289      5,726,368 
Note payable     108,176      164,509 
Pension benefit obligation     393,640      798,476 
Operating lease liability     135,193      - 

Total liabilities     6,863,364      7,194,119 
               
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)              
               
Stockholders’ deficit              

Common stock par value 1 CHF, authorized 590,951 shares, outstanding 412,572 and 412,572 as of December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively     466,555      466,555 

Additional paid-in-capital     20,377,905      20,000,916 
Accumulated comprehensive (loss) income     606,583      431,677 
Accumulated deficit     (27,242,609)     (25,200,036)

Total stockholders’ deficit     (5,791,566)     (4,300,888)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit   $ 1,071,798    $ 2,893,231 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these financial statements.
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Proteomedix AG

Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021

 
    2022     2021  
             
Revenue   $ 392,460    $ 140,600 
               
Cost of goods sold     48,429      31,977 
               
Gross profit     344,031      108,623 
               
Operating expenses              

Marketing and business development     240,298      200,096 
Research and development     393,274      312,586 
General and administrative     1,671,960      1,766,843 
Depreciation     17,492      36,866 

Total operating expenses     2,323,024      2,316,391 
               
Loss from operations     (1,978,993)     (2,207,768)
               
Other income (expense)              

Interest expense     (63,580)     (41,536)
Total other income (expenses)     (63,580)     (41,536)
               
Net loss before provision for income taxes     (2,042,573)     (2,249,304)
               
Provision for income taxes     -      - 
               
Net loss     (2,042,573)     (2,249,304)
               
Other comprehensive (loss) income              
               

Benefit pension obligation changes     179,892      397,709 
               

Foreign currency translation adjustment     (4,986)     32,837 
               
Total other comprehensive (loss) income     174,906      430,546 
               
Comprehensive loss   $ (1,867,667)   $ (1,818,758)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

 

3



 

 
Proteomedix AG

Statement of Stockholders’ Deficit
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021

 
                Additional     Accumulated           Total  
    Common Stock     Paid In     Comprehensive     Accumulated     Stockholders’  

    Shares     Par Value      Capital     (Loss) Income     Deficit     Deficit  
                                     
Balance at December 31, 2020     412,572    $ 466,555    $ 19,928,271    $ 1,131    $ (22,950,732)   $ (2,554,775)
                                           
Change in pension benefit obligation     -      -      -      397,709      -      397,709 
                                           
Stock based compensation     -      -      72,645      -      -      72,645 
                                           
FX translation adjustment     -      -      -      32,837      -      32,837 
                                           
Net loss     -      -      -      -      (2,249,304)     (2,249,304)
                                           
Balance at December 31, 2021     412,572      466,555      20,000,916      431,677      (25,200,036)     (4,300,888)
                                           
Change in pension benefit obligation     -      -      -      179,892      -      179,892 
                                           
Stock based compensation     -      -      376,989      -      -      376,989 
                                           
FX translation adjustment     -      -      -      (4,986)     -      (4,986)
                                           
Net loss     -      -      -      -      (2,042,573)     (2,042,573)
                                           
Balance at  December 31, 2022     412,572    $ 466,555    $ 20,377,905    $ 606,583    $ (27,242,609)   $ (5,791,566)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these financial statements.
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Proteomedix AG

Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021

 
    2022     2021  
Operating activities            

Net Loss   $ (2,042,573)   $ (2,249,304)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              

Depreciation and Amortization     17,492      36,866 
Stock based compensation     376,989      72,645 
Net periodic benefit cost     (224,944)     (40,881)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:              
Accounts receivable     (140,472)     (32,009)
Inventory     14,774      19,522 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     59,352      (16,734)
Accrued expenses     5,812      (29,661)

Cash used in operating activities     (1,933,570)     (2,239,556)
               
Investing activities:              
               

Cash used in investing activities     -      - 
               
Financing activities:              
Issuance (repayment) of notes payable     (50,000)     - 
Issuance of convertible notes payable     -      3,277,170 

Cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (50,000)     3,277,170 
               
FX effect on cash     (93,075)     (26,488)
               
Net change in cash and cash equivalents     (2,076,645)     1,011,126 
               
Cash and cash equivalents-Beginning of the year     2,546,801      1,535,675 
Cash and cash equivalents-End of year   $ 470,156    $ 2,546,801 

               
Supplemental cash flow disclosures              

               
Interest paid   $ 2,621    $ 2,735 
Income taxes paid   $ -    $ - 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

 

5



 

 
Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 

Note 1 – Organization and Nature of Business
 
Proteomedix AG (the “Company”) is
 a healthcare company whose mission is to transform prostate cancer diagnosis. Proteomedix has identified novel
biomarker signatures with
utility in prostate cancer diagnosis, prognosis and therapy management. The lead product Proclarix® is a blood-based
prostate
cancer test panel and risk score currently available in Europe and expected to be available in the U.S. in the near future. Proteomedix
is located in the Bio-
Technopark of Zurich-Schlieren, Switzerland.
 
On December 15, 2023, the Company was acquired
by Onconetix, Inc. (formerly Blue Water Biotech, Inc) (the “Parent”). The Parent issued stock of its
common stock in exchange
for 100% of the outstanding voting equity of the Company. See Note 10.
 
Note 2 – Going Concern
 
The accompanying financial statements have been
prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates, among other
things, the realization of assets and
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had an
accumulated deficit
 of approximately $27,200,000, a net loss of approximately $2,042,000, and net cash used in operating activities of approximately
$1,934,000,
with approximately $392,000 in revenue recognized, and a lack of profitable operational history. These matters, among others, raise substantial
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for the 12 months following the issuance of these financial statements.
 
While the Company is attempting to generate greater
revenues, the Company’s cash position may not be significant enough to support the Company’s daily
operations. Management
 intends to raise additional funds from its Parent to sustain operations until such time as revenues are sufficient to support the
Company’s
operations. Management believes that the actions presently being taken to further implement its business plan and generate revenues provide
the opportunity for the Company to continue as a going concern. While the Company believes in the viability of its strategy to generate
revenues and the
ability of its Parent to provide additional funds, there can be no assurances to that effect. The ability of the Company
to continue as a going concern is
dependent upon the Company’s ability to further implement its business plan and obtaining additional
funding from its Parent as needed.
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies
 
Basis of Presentation
 
The Company’s financial statements are prepared
in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S GAAP”), which require the
recognition and disclosure
of foreign currency translation adjustments resulting from the translation of financial statements denominated in currencies other
than
the U.S. Dollar.
 
The functional currency of the Company is the
Swiss Franc. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rates prevailing
at the date of the transaction. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive
income (loss).
 
Use of Estimates

 
The preparation
of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
 reported amounts of
expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant estimates in the Company’s financial statements
relate to valuation of inventory, stock-based
compensation, pension benefit obligations, and the valuation allowance of deferred tax assets
 resulting from net operating losses. These estimates and
assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience and various other
factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities and the recording of expenses that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ
 materially and adversely from these estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the
estimates and actual results,
the Company’s future results of operations will be affected.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Note 3
– Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
 
Segment
Information 
 
Operating
segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief
operating
decision maker (“CODM”), or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
The Company operates in one
segment which is consistent with the financial information regularly reviewed by the CODM for purposes of
evaluating performance, allocating resources,
setting incentive compensation targets, and planning and forecasting for future periods.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
For purposes
of reporting cash flows, the Company has defined cash and cash equivalents as all cash in banks and highly liquid investments available
for
current use with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company had no cash equivalents as of December
31, 2022 or 2021.
 
The Company
 maintains its cash balances at financial institutions that are insured by Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (“FINMA”).
The
Company’s cash balances may at times exceed the insurance provided by FINMA. The Company has not experienced any losses on these
accounts and
management does not believe that the Company is exposed to any significant risks related to excess deposits.
 
Accounts Receivable
 
The Company
 performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and extends credit to virtually all of its customers
 on an
uncollateralized basis. Credit losses to date have been insignificant and within management’s expectations. The Company provides
 an allowance for
doubtful accounts that is based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection information, and existing
 economic conditions.  Normal
accounts receivable are due 30 days after the issuance of the invoice. Receivables are considered delinquent
based on management’s assessment of the
individual balance. Delinquent receivables are evaluated for collectability based on individual
credit evaluation and specific circumstances of the customer.
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s allowance for doubtful
accounts was nil, respectively. The Company did not write off any accounts
receivable against the allowance for doubtful accounts during
 the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021,
substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable
are due from a single customer.
 
Inventories
 
Inventories consist of raw materials and finished
goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined on a first-in,
first-out basis. The Company
 periodically reviews the composition of inventory in order to identify excess, obsolete, slow-moving or otherwise non-
saleable items taking
into account anticipated future sales compared with quantities on hand, and the remaining shelf life of goods on hand. If non-saleable
items are observed and there are no alternate uses for the inventory, the Company records a write-down to net realizable value in the
period that the decline
in value is first recognized. The Company had no inventory reserves as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.
 
The Company’s inventory consisted of the
following at the respective balance sheet dates:
 
    2022     2021  
Raw materials   $ 48,408    $ 52,942 
Finished goods     47,402      57,641 
Total   $ 95,810    $ 110,583 
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Note 3
– Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
 
Impairment
of Long-Lived Assets
 
The Company
reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets may not be fully recoverable (a “triggering event”). Factors that the Company considers in deciding when to perform
an impairment review include
significant underperformance of the long-lived asset in relation to expectations, significant negative industry
or economic trends, and significant changes or
planned changes in the use of the assets. If an impairment review is performed to evaluate
a long-lived asset for recoverability, the Company compares
forecasts of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the long-lived asset to its carrying value. An impairment
loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash
flows expected to result from the use of an asset are less than its carrying amount. The
impairment loss would be based on the excess
of the carrying value of the impaired asset over its fair value, determined based on discounted cash flows.
During the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not identify any impairments related to its long-lived assets.
 
Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment consists of computers and
 office furniture and fixtures, all of which are recorded at cost. Depreciation is recorded using the
straight-line method over the respective
useful lives of the assets ranging from two to ten years. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. Upon the retirement or other disposition of property and
equipment,
the related cost and accumulated depreciation are charged to operations. A summary of the estimated useful lives is a s follows:
 

Description  
Estimated 
Useful Life

Computers   3 years
Office furniture and fixtures   2 to 10 years
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s
 property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, by
significant class.
 
Class   2022     2021  
Computers   $ 79,199    $ 75,311 
Office furniture and fixtures     341,318      346,040 
Less: accumulated depreciation     (380,387)     (367,348)
Total   $ 40,130    $ 54,003 

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, was $17,492 and $36,866, respectively.
 
Lease Accounting.
 
The Company regularly evaluates whether a contract
meets the definition of a lease whenever a contract grants it the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period in exchange
for consideration. The Company’s lease agreement consists of office space. This lease generally contains an initial term of
two
years and with renewals options. If the Company’s lease agreement includes renewal option periods, the Company includes such renewal
options in its
calculation of the estimated lease term when it determines the options are reasonably certain to be exercised. When such
renewal options are deemed to be
reasonably certain, the estimated lease term determined under ASC 842 will be greater than the non-cancelable
term of the contractual arrangement.
 
The Company classifies its lessee arrangements
at inception as either operating leases or financing leases. A lease is classified as a financing lease if at least
one of the following
 criteria is met: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee, (2) the lease grants the lessee an option to
purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, (3) the lease term is for a major part of the remaining
economic life of the
underlying asset, (4) the present value of the sum of the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the
fair value of the underlying asset, or (5)
the underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative
 use to the lessor at the end of the lease term. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if none of the five criteria described above
for financing lease classification is met. The Company has no financing leases as
of December 31, 2022 or 2021.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Note 3
– Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
 
ROU assets associated with operating leases are
 included in “Right of Use Asset” on the Company’s balance sheets. Current and long-term portions of
lease liabilities
related to operating leases are included in ‘operating lease liability, current’ and ‘operating lease liability’
on the Company’s balance sheets
as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying
asset for the estimated lease term and lease liabilities
represent the Company’s present value of its future lease payments. In
assessing its lease and determining its lease liability at lease commencement or upon
modification, the Company was not able to readily
determine the rate implicit for its lessee arrangements, and thus has used its incremental borrowing rate
on a collateralized basis to
determine the present value of the lease payments. The Company’s ROU asset is measured as the balance of the lease liability
plus
or minus any prepaid or accrued lease payments and any unamortized initial direct costs. Operating lease expenses are recognized on a
ratable basis,
regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make payments annually, quarterly, monthly, or for the entire
 term in advance. If the
payment terms include fixed escalator provisions, the effect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line
basis. The Company calculates the straight-
line expense over the contract’s estimated lease term, including any renewal option periods
that the Company deems reasonably certain to be exercised and
recognizes this as lease expense within ‘general and administrative’
 in the accompanying statements of comprehensive loss. See Note 5 for further
information regarding the Company’s lease.
 
Research and Development Costs
 
Research and development expenses are those costs
incurred in the discovery, design, and development of new products, processes, or services, as well as
the enhancement of existing products.
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred unless such costs have an alternative future use. These
costs include, but are
not limited to, salaries, wages, benefits, materials, equipment, and overhead directly attributable to the research and development
activities.
 
Collaborative Agreements 
 
The Company periodically enters into strategic
alliance agreements with counterparties to produce products and/or provide services to customers. Alliances
created by such agreements
are not legal entities, have no employees, no assets and have no true operations. These arrangements create contractual rights
and the
Company accounts for these alliances as a collaborative arrangement by reporting costs incurred and reimbursements received from transactions
within research and development expense within the statements of comprehensive loss.
 
Commitments and
Contingencies
 
Liabilities
for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties and other sources are recorded when management assesses
that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
 
Share Based Compensation
 
The Company
 accounts for equity instruments issued in exchange for the receipt of goods or services from other than employees in accordance with
Financial
Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) Account Standard Codification (“ASC”) 718, “Compensation – Stock
Compensation”. Costs are measured
at the estimated fair value of the consideration received or the estimated fair value of the equity
instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable.
The value of equity instruments issued for consideration other than employee
 services is determined on the earliest of a performance commitment or
completion of performance by the provider of goods or services as
defined by FASB ASC 718, “Compensation – Stock Compensation”.
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Note 3
– Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
 
Income Taxes
 
In accordance
with ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” the Company provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of such assets
is more likely
than not. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement and tax
basis of assets and liabilities that
will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable
to the periods in which the differences are expected
to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to
reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income
tax expense is the tax payable or refundable for the period plus
or minus the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
 
In addition,
 the Company’s management performs an evaluation of all uncertain income tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course
 of
preparing the Company’s income tax returns to determine whether the income tax positions meet a “more likely than not”
standard of being sustained under
examination by the applicable taxing authorities. This evaluation is required to be performed for all
open tax years, as defined by the various statutes of
limitations, for federal and state purposes. If the Company has interest or penalties
associated with insufficient taxes paid, such expenses are reported in
income tax expense.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
Effective on January 1, 2021, the Company adopted
ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”). Pursuant to ASC 606,
revenues are recognized
 when control of services performed is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be
entitled
to in exchange for those services. ASC 606 provides for a five-step model that includes:

 
(i) identifying the contract with a customer,
(ii) identifying the performance obligations in the contract,
(iii) determining the transaction price,
(iv) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations,
and
(v) recognizing revenue when, or as, an entity satisfies a performance
obligation.

 
Product
Sales
 
The Company derives revenue through sales of its
products directly to end users and to distributors. The Company sells its products to customers including
laboratories, hospitals, medical
centers, doctors and distributors. The Company considers customer purchase orders, which in some cases are governed by
master sales agreements
or standard terms and conditions, to be the contracts with a customer. For each contract, the Company considers the promise to
transfer
 products, each of which are distinct, to be the identified performance obligations. In determining the transaction price the Company evaluates
whether the price is subject to refund or adjustment to determine the net consideration to which it expects to be entitled. The Company
 fulfils its
performance obligation applicable to product sales once the product is transferred to the customer.
 
Development
Services
 
The Company
provides a range of services to life sciences customers referred to as “Development Services” including testing for biomarker
discovery,
assay design and development. These Development Services are performed under individual statement of work (“SOW”) arrangements
 with specific
deliverables defined by the customer. Development Services are generally performed on a time and materials basis. During
the performance and through
completion of the service to the customer in accordance with the SOW, we have the right to bill the customer
for the agreed upon price and we recognize
the Development Services revenue over the period estimated to complete the SOW. We generally
identify each SOW as a single performance obligation.
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Note 3
– Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
 
Completion
of the service and satisfaction of the performance obligation under a SOW is typically evidenced by access to the data or test made available
to
the customer or any other form or applicable manner of delivery defined in the SOW. However, for certain SOWs under which work is performed
pursuant
to the customer’s highly customized specifications, we have the enforceable right to bill the customer for work completed,
rather than upon completion of
the SOW. For those SOWs, we recognize revenue over a period of time during which the work is performed
based on the expended efforts (inputs). As the
performance obligation under the SOW is satisfied, any amounts earned as revenue and billed
to the customer are included in accounts receivable. Any
revenues earned but not yet billed to the customer as of the date of the financial
statements are recorded as contract assets and are included in prepaids and
other current assets as of the financial statement date. Amounts
recorded in contract assets are reclassified to accounts receivable in our financial statements
when the customer is invoiced according
to the billing schedule in the contract.
 
In circumstances where a SOW includes variable
consideration component, the Company estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be
included in the transaction price utilizing
either the expected value method or the most likely amount method, depending on which method is expected to
better predict the amount
of consideration to which the Company will be entitled. The value of variable consideration is included in the transaction price if,
and
to the extent, it is probable that a significant reversal of the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. These estimates are reassessed each reporting period, as required,
and any adjustment required is
recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenue and net income in the period of adjustment.
 
The following
table disaggregates the Company’s revenues by type for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
 

   
Recognition 

Method   2022     2021  
Product sales   Point in time   $ 79,085    $ 55,311 
Development services   Over time     313,375      85,289 
        $ 392,460    $ 140,600 

 
Fair Value Measurement
 
ASC Topic
 820, “Fair Value Measurement”, requires that certain financial instruments be recognized at their fair values at our balance
 sheet dates.
However, other financial instruments, such as debt obligations, are not required to be recognized at their fair values, but U.S.
GAAP provides an option to
elect fair value accounting for these instruments. U.S. GAAP requires the disclosure of the fair values of
all financial instruments, regardless of whether
they are recognized at their fair values or carrying amounts in our balance sheets. For
financial instruments recognized at fair value, U.S. GAAP requires
the disclosure of their fair values by type of instrument, along with
other information, including changes in the fair values of certain financial instruments
recognized in income or other comprehensive income.
For financial instruments not recognized at fair value, the disclosure of their fair values is provided
below under “Financial Instruments”.
 
Nonfinancial
assets, such as property and equipment, and nonfinancial liabilities are recognized at their carrying amounts in the Company’s balance
sheets.
GAAP does not permit nonfinancial assets and liabilities to be remeasured at their fair values. However, GAAP requires the remeasurement
of such assets
and liabilities to their fair values upon the occurrence of certain events, such as the impairment of property, plant and
equipment. In addition, if such an
event occurs, GAAP requires the disclosure of the fair value of the asset or liability along with other
information, including the gain or loss recognized in
income in the period the remeasurement occurred.
  
The Company
did not have any assets or liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021 which required remeasurement at the respective reporting periods.
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Note 3
– Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
 
Financial Instruments
 
The Company’s
 financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, and are accounted for under the
provisions
 of ASC Topic 825, “Financial Instruments”. The carrying amount of these financial instruments, as reflected in the financial
 statements
approximates fair value.
 
Convertible Instruments
 
The Company
evaluates and accounts for conversion options embedded in convertible instruments in accordance with ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging
Activities”.
 
U.S. GAAP
 requires companies to bifurcate conversion options from their host instruments and account for them as free-standing derivative financial
instruments according to certain criteria. The criteria include circumstances in which (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the
embedded derivative
instrument are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b)
the hybrid instrument that embodies both the
embedded derivative instrument and the host contract is not re-measured at fair value under
other GAAP with changes in fair value reported in earnings as
they occur and (c) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative instrument would be considered a derivative instrument.
 
The Company
accounts for convertible instruments as follows: Debt discounts under these arrangements are amortized over the term of the related debt
to
their stated date of redemption. Proceeds from these convertible notes are reported under the financing section of the statements of
cash flows. During the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not have any conversion options which required bifurcation
from the host instrument.
 
Defined
Benefit Pension Plan
 
The Company sponsors
 a defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) covering eligible employees. The Plan provides retirement benefits based on
employees’
years of service and compensation levels. The Company recognizes an asset for such plan’s overfunded status or a liability underfunded
status
in its balance sheets. Additionally, the Company measures its plan’s assets and obligations that determine its funded status
as of the end of the year and
recognizes the changes in the funded status in the year in which the changes occur. Those changes are reported
in ‘accumulated other comprehensive loss.
The Company uses actuarial valuations to determine its pension and postretirement benefit
costs and credits. The amounts calculated depend on a variety of
key assumptions, including discount rates and expected return on plan
assets. Current market conditions are considered in selecting these assumptions.
 
The Company’s pension plans are generally
valued using the net asset value (NAV) per share as a practical expedient for fair value provided certain criteria
are met. The NAVs are
determined based on the fair values of the underlying investments in the funds. In circumstances where the criteria are not met, fair
is determined based on the underlying market in which the funds are traded which is generally considered to be an active market.
 
Recently Issued
Accounting Standards
 
During the
period ended December 31, 2022, and subsequently, there were several new accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB. Each of these
pronouncements,
 as applicable, has been or will be adopted by the Company. Management does not believe the adoption of any of these accounting
pronouncements
has had or will have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
 
In August
2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, “Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470- 20) and Derivatives and Hedging
 -
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s
Own Equity” (“ASU 2020-06”),
which simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics
of liabilities and equity. This ASU: (1) simplifies the accounting for
convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock by
removing the existing guidance in ASC 470-20, “Debt: Debt with Conversion and Other
Options,” that requires entities to account
for beneficial conversion features and cash conversion features in equity, separately from the host convertible
debt or preferred stock;
(2) revises the scope exception from derivative accounting in ASC 815-40 for freestanding financial instruments and embedded
features
that are both indexed to the issuer’s own stock and classified in stockholders’ equity, by removing certain criteria required
for equity classification;
and (3) revises the guidance in ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share,” to require entities to calculate
diluted EPS for convertible instruments by using the if-
converted method. In addition, entities must presume share settlement for purposes
of calculating diluted EPS when an instrument may be settled in cash or
shares. For SEC filers, excluding smaller reporting companies,
ASU 2020-06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 including
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. For all other
entities, ASU 2020-06 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Entities should
adopt the guidance
as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption and cannot adopt the guidance in an interim reporting period. The Company adopted
the ASU 2020-06 on January 1, 2021. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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Note 3
– Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
 
Subsequent Events
 
The Company
has evaluated all transactions through the date the financial statements were issued for subsequent event disclosure consideration. See
Note
10.
 
Note 4 – Debt
 
On March 3, 2010, the Company received a loan
from Venture Kick in the amount of 100,000 CHF. This loan bears no interest, is unsecured and may be
cancelled by the Company at its discretion.
This loan is subordinated to the Company’s other unsubordinated debt. The loan was to be used solely for
business development and
the Company may, at its sole discretion, contribute funds back to Venture Kick to enable that organization to continue its efforts.
As
of December 31, 2022 and 2021 the balance outstanding was approximately $108,000 and $115,000, respectively.
 
On June 23, 2020, Company entered a convertible
note payable with a financial institution and shareholder of the Company for CHF 550,000 with an
interest rate of 0.50% per annum and
a maturity of September 30, 2024. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion feature in the event of an
equity financing
of the Company. The conversion price in the event of an equity financing is at a 20% discount the share price from the financing. The
holder is also entitled to convert the note upon the occurrence of a sale of the Company or at maturity of the note in both cases without
a discount. This
note was unsubordinated until January 10, 2023, at which point it was also subordinated to all other unsubordinated debts.
The interest rate was changed to
2.50% as of May 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding balance on this note was approximately
 $541,000 and $548,000,
respectively. The Company additionally obtained a COVID-19 loan with such financial institution on April 16, 2020,
in the amount of CHF 50,000 with an
interest rate of 0%. As of December 31, 2021, the balance outstanding was approximately $50,000. Such
loan was subsequently fully repaid as of April
2022.
 
On June 23, 2020, Company entered into a series
of convertible notes payable with certain shareholders of the Company for CHF 800,000 with an interest
rate of 0.50% per annum and a maturity
of September 30, 2024. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion feature in the event of an equity
financing greater than
CHF 1,000,000. The conversion price in the event of an equity financing is at a 20% discount the share price from the financing. The
holder
is also entitled to convert the note upon the occurrence of a sale of the Company or at maturity of the note in both cases without a discount.
These
notes payable are subordinated to the Company’s other unsubordinated debt. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding
balance on these notes
was approximately $865,000 and $877,000, respectively.
 
On October 26, 2020, Company entered into a series
of convertible notes payable with certain members of the board of directors (Note 8) in the total
amount of CHF 161,250 with an interest
rate of 0.25% and a maturity of December 31, 2023. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion
feature at a discount of 20%
 in the event of an equity financing greater than CHF 1,000,000. The holder is also entitled to convert the note upon the
occurrence of
a sale of the Company or at maturity of the note in both cases without a discount. These notes payable are subordinated to the Company’s
other unsubordinated debt. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding balance on these notes was approximately $174,000 and $177,000,
respectively.
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On November 23, 2020, Company entered into a series
of convertible notes payable with certain shareholders of the Company in the total amount of CHF
760,080 with an interest rate of 5% and
a maturity of December 31, 2023. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion feature at a discount of
30% in the event of
an equity financing greater than CHF 1,000,000. The holder is also entitled to convert the note upon the occurrence of a sale of the
Company
or at maturity of the note in both cases without a discount. These notes payable are subordinated to the Company’s other unsubordinated
debt. As
of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding balance on these notes was approximately $822,000 and $834,000, respectively.
 
On July 19, 2021, Company entered into a convertible
note payable in the total amount of CHF 3,000,000 with an interest rate of 0.5% and a maturity of
September 30, 2023. The note provides
 the holder with a mandatory conversion requirement in the event of an equity financing greater than CHF
1,000,000. The note is also mandatorily
converted in the event certain milestones are achieved related to an R&D collaboration project entered separately
none of which have
been met as of December 31, 2022. The holder is also entitled to convert the note upon the occurrence of a sale of the Company or at
maturity
of the note in both cases without a discount. These notes payable are subordinated to the Company’s other unsubordinated debt. As
of December
31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding balance on this note was approximately $3,245,000 and $3,290,000, respectively. Subsequent
to December 31, 2022,
the maturity date for this note was extended to September 30, 2024.
 
All outstanding convertible notes as of December
31, 2022 were converted upon the closing of the acquisition of the Company by the Parent. See Note 10.
 
Note 5 – Commitments and Contingencies
 
Leases
 
The Company leases its primary office and lab
space at a rate of 5,077 CHF per month. The lease began on February 1, 2012 with an initial period ending
on January 31, 2015. This rental
agreement can be terminated at the end of March, June and September of a given year with a notice of 12 months. If the
Company wishes
 to terminate the lease without adhering to the agreed dates, it is liable for the rent and the other tenant obligations until the rental
 is
continued, but the latest until the next contractual termination date. If the rental agreement is not terminated in writing by either
 party after the fixed
contract period has expired, while observing the notice period, it will be extended by two years. As of December
31, 2022 the remaining period of the lease
is approximately 30 months.
 
The Company temporarily expanded the above lease
to include additional space beginning on January 1, 2020 and ending on April 30, 2021. This space
had a month lease payment of 2,843 CHF.
The Company appropriately exercised its termination rights for this lease and has no further obligation to the
lessor.
 
The Company adopted ASC Topic 842, “Leases”,
 on January 1, 2022. ASC 842 establishes principles for recognizing, measuring, presenting, and
disclosing leases to ensure that lessees
and lessors provide relevant information about their leasing transactions. The Company has adopted ASC 842 using
the modified retrospective
approach and elected to use the effective method to apply this standard on the effective date to all remaining leases meeting the
criteria
for recognition. Comparative prior periods are not restated and are presented under ASC 840. In applying the modified retrospective approach,
the
Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted by ASC 842, which includes:
 

- Existing Leases: The Company did not reassess whether existing contracts are or contain leases.
     

- Initial Direct Costs: The Company did not reassess initial direct costs for existing leases.
     

- Non-lease components: The Company combined lease and non-lease components.
 
As a result of the adoption of ASC 842, the Company
recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability of approximately $250,000 on the balance sheet for
its lease that was classified as
an operating lease under the previous guidance. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s statement of
comprehensive
loss or cash flows.
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Initially, the Company measure the right of use
asset and liability associated with its office lease using the following inputs:
 
Remaining lease term (in years)     4 
Discount rate     0.05%
 
The Company
records rent on straight-line basis over the terms of the underlying lease. Estimated future minimum lease payments under the lease as
of
December 31, 2022 are as follows:
 
Year Ending December 31,   Amount  
2023   $ 67,632 
2024     67,632 
2025     67,632 
Total remaining lease payments     202,896 
Less: imputed interest     157 
Present value of remaining lease payments   $ 202,739 

 
The rent expense for the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021 was $65,535 and $68,409 respectively, and was included in ‘general and administrative’
expenses in the accompanying
statements of comprehensive loss. The Company paid $65,535 and $68,409 respectively, in lease payments during the years
ended December
31, 2022 and 2021 and are included in the Company’s operating cash flows for both periods. The change in lease expense and lease
cash
payments from period to period is due to changes in exchange rate between USD and CHF as the Company’s minimum monthly lease
payments are fixed
for the term of the lease.
 
Switzerland social security obligations
 
The Company issued certain stock options during
periods prior to December 31, 2022. If the recipients exercise these stock options it may result in the
recognition of additional social
 security tax due to the Switzerland taxing authority. Management assessed the likelihood of this liability having been
incurred as of
 December 31, 2022 and 2021 in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies, and determined the likelihood was reasonably possible.
Accordingly,
no accrual for this contingent obligation has been recognized in the accompanying financial statements. Additionally, management is unable
to estimate an amount or range of amounts related to any amount that may be owed should a recipient exercise a stock option.
 
Federal COVID-19 assistance
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company,
as well as many other entities, received payroll assistance from the government of Switzerland as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The
 total amount received by the Company approximated $171,000 and was used to reduce wages and salaries
primarily within ‘general and
administrative’ and ‘research and development’ expenses in the accompanying statements of comprehensive loss.
 
Note 6 – Stockholders’ Deficit
 
Share Capital
 
The Company has several series of common stock
providing the following provisions. In the event of a bankruptcy or liquidation or winding up of the
Company, the holders of Series B3
Common Stock will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Series B2 Common Stock, Series B Common
Stock and Series A Stock
and Ordinary Stock, CHF 65 for each Series B3 Common Share they own.
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Thereafter, the holders of Series B2 Common Stock
will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Series B Common Stock and Series A Stock
and Ordinary Stock, CHF 60 for each
Series B2 Common Share they own.
 
Thereafter, the holders of Series B Common Stock
will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Series A Common Stock and Ordinary Stock,
CHF 50 for each Series B Common Share
they own.
 
Thereafter, the holders of Series A Common Stock
will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Ordinary Stock, CHF 40 for each Series A
Common Share they own.
 
Thereafter, the other Ordinary Shareholders will
be entitled to receive CHF 40 per Ordinary Share they own and then any remaining assets or proceeds will
be distributed pro rata among
all Shareholders.
 
If there are insufficient assets or proceeds to
pay such amount to the holders of Series B3 Common Stock, the amount available will be paid on a pro rata
basis between the holders of
the Series B3 Common Stock.
 
If, after the full payment of Series B3 Shareholders,
there are insufficient assets or proceeds to pay such amount to the holders of Series B2 Common Stock,
the amount available will be paid
on a pro rata basis between the holders of the Series B2 Common Stock.
 
If, after the full payment of Series B2 Shareholders,
there are insufficient assets or proceeds to pay such amount to the holders of Series B Common Stock,
the amount available will be paid
on a pro rata basis between the holders of the Series B Common Stock.
 
If, after the full payment of Series B Shareholders,
there are insufficient assets or proceeds to pay such amount to the holders of Series A Common Stock,
the amount available will be paid
on a pro rata basis between the holders of the Series A Common Stock.
 
The Company and all Shareholders shall use best
efforts to ensure that any sale, liquidation, disposal of material assets or the entire Company shall be
effectuated so as to be tax efficient,
particularly as regards any applicable withholding tax, and fair with regard to the Shareholders.
 
If in later financing rounds additional preference
rights are granted, then the holders of Series A Common Stock, Series B Common Stock and Series B2
Common Stock shall receive mutatis
mutandis behind the new shares the same rights (taking into account the respective price).”
 
The Series B3 Common Stock shall have the same
rights and obligations under the Shareholder’s Agreement and the Organizational Rules as the Series B
Common Stock and the Series
B2 Common Stock, and thus have the same legal status as the Series B Common Stock and the Series B2 Common Stock.
 
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 the following
number of common stock for each series was outstanding:
 
Share Class   Stock  
Ordinary     100,000 
Series A     65,000 
Series B     84,200 
Series B2     83,334 
Series B3     80,038 
Total Outstanding stock     412,572 
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Stock options
 
The Company sponsors a stock option plan (the
“Plan”) which provides common stock option grants to be granted to certain individuals as determined by
the board of directors.
 All employees and consultants of the Company are eligible to receive awards under the Plan. The terms of each option are
determined by
the board of directors and are evidenced by a grant notice provided to the grantee after approval by the board of directors. Generally,
options
issued under the Plan have a term of less than 11 years and provide for a four-year vesting period during which the grantee must
remain in the service of the
Company. Options are generally granted on either January 1 or July 1 annually and the exercise price is determined
at each respective time by the board of
directors. Upon exercise by a grantee, the Company issues new shares of common stock from its
authorized capital to satisfy the exercise.
 
The Company has granted various stock
options primarily to employees as incentive-based compensation. Stock issued under this plan are measure at fair
value using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model as further described below. Upon exercise, the Company issues new stock from its authorized
capital.
The following summarizes activity related to the Company’s stock options for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021:
 

                      Weighted  
                      Average  
          Weighted           Remaining  
          Average           Contractual  
    Number of     Exercise     Intrinsic     Life  
    Stock     Price     Value     (in years)  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020     37,573    $ 4.54    $ 18.11      5.99 
Granted     23,084      1.10      33.14      10 
Forfeited / cancelled     (7,792)     1.41      26.50      9.56 
Exercised     -      -      -      - 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021     52,865      3.40      24.57      8.60 
Granted     -      -      -      - 
Forfeited / cancelled     -      -      -      - 
Exercised     -      -      -      - 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022     52,865    $ 3.35    $ 24.62      7.89 

Options vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2022     42,459    $ 3.52    $ 34.34      6.52 
 
The fair value of options granted
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was estimated using the following range of assumptions:

 
    2022     2021  
Exercise price   $ 1.08 to $27.04    $ 1.10 to $27.42 
Term (years)     3       3  
Expected stock price volatility     70%       70%  
Risk-free rate of interest     1.15%       -0.73%  
 
The weighted average grant date
fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $0 and $33.14, respectively.
The Company estimates
 forfeitures based on the historical pattern of forfeitures for grantees and are recognized as they occur. The Company uses the
straight-line
method of measuring compensation cost related to stock option grants which provides that the grants are measured at fair value on the
date of
issuance and the related cost is measure over the requisite service period as the options vest with each vesting period being
treated as a single grant over
which compensation is recognized. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 16,800 options remain unvested
having a fair value $940,702 which will be
recognized in future periods as the options vest. The aggregate fair value of stock options
that vested during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
was approximately $329,000 and $68,000, respectively.
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Accumulated other comprehensive loss
 
The table below details the components and the
Company’s accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.
 
    Defined              
    Benefit     Foreign        
    Pension     Currency        
    Items     Items     Total  
Balance as of December 31, 2020   $ -    $ 1,131    $ 1,131 
                      
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications     562,461      32,837      595,298 
                      
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income     (164,752)     -      (164,752)
                      
Net current period other comprehensive income     397,709      32,837      430,546 
                      
Balance as of December 31, 2021     397,709      33,968      431,677 
                      
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications     475,487      (4,986)     470,501 
                      
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income     (295,595)     -      (295,595)
                      
Net current period other comprehensive income     179,892      (4,986)     174,906 
                      
Balance as of December 31, 2022   $ 577,601    $ 28,982    $ 606,583 

 
The following tables details the amounts reclassified
from other comprehensive loss and the related affected line items within the accompanying statements
of comprehensive loss for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
 
    2022     2021     Financial statement
Item description   Amount     Amount     line item
                 
Amortization of gains (losses)   $ 6,303    $ -    General and administrative
                   
Settlements     289,292      164,752    General and administrative
                   
    $ 295,595    $ 164,752     
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 

Note 7 – Defined Benefit Pension Plan
 
The Company sponsors a defined benefit pension
plan covering certain eligible employees. The plan provides retirement benefits based on years of service
and compensation levels.
 
The value of the pension obligation is determined
using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC) method. This method sees each period of service as giving rise to
an additional unit of benefit
 entitlements/employee benefits. The value of the Company’s employee benefit obligations for active employees, or the
Projected Benefit
Obligation (PBO), on the reporting date is the same as the present value of the degree of entitlement existing on this date, in terms
of
future salary and pension increases and turnover rates. The valuation of pension obligations of pensioners is made on the basis of
 the present value of
current pensions taking into account future increases in pensions. The service costs (SC) are calculated using the
 present value of the entitlements to
employee benefits earned during the year for which calculations are made.
 
The following significant actuarial assumptions
were used in calculating the benefit obligation and the net periodic benefit cost as of December 31, 2022
and 2021:
 
    2022     2021  
Discount rate     2.30%    0.35%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets     2.30%    0.35%
Rate of compensation increase     3.00%    3.00%
 
Changes in these assumptions may have a material
impact on the plan’s obligations and costs.
 
The components of net periodic benefit cost for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
 
    2022     2021  
Service cost   $ 157,225    $ 218,298 
Interest cost     10,737      3,563 
Expected return on plan assets     (8,195)     (2,366)
Amortization of net (gain)/loss     (6,303)     - 
Settlements (gain)/loss     (289,292)     (164,752)
Total   $ (135,828)   $ 54,743 

 
The components of accumulated comprehensive loss
attributable to the Company’s pension plan for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:
 
    2022     2021  
Net loss (gain)   $ (475,487)   $ (562,461)
Amortization of net gain     6,303      - 
Effect of settlement     289,292      164,752 
Total recorded during the period     (179,892)     (397,709)
               
Total   $ (577,601)   $ (397,709)

 
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the funded status
of the plan and the amounts recognized in the balance sheets are as follows:
 
    2022     2021  
Projected benefit obligation   $ 1,981,655    $ 3,321,683 
Fair value of plan assets     1,588,015      2,523,207 
Overfunded (underfunded) status   $ (393,640)   $ (798,476)

 
Company contributions to the plan during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 amounted to $89,192 and $95,527, respectively.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Note 7 – Defined Benefit Pension Plan (cont.)
 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances
of the accumulated benefit obligation is provided in the table below:
 
As of December 31, 2020   $ 3,681,625 
Service cost     218,298 
Interest cost     3,563 
Actuarial (gain) loss     (365,169)
Benefits paid     (22,148)
Contributions     1,131,779 
Settlements     (1,326,265)
Projected benefit obligation as of December 31, 2021     3,321,683 
Actuarial (gain)/loss due to assumption changes     (173,094)
Actuarial (gain)/loss due to plan experience     (192,074)
Accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, 2021     2,956,515 
        
As of December 31, 2021     3,321,683 
Service cost     157,225 
Interest cost     10,737 
Actuarial (gain) loss     (817,009)
Benefits paid     (20,470)
Contributions     220,604 
Settlements     (891,115)
Projected benefit obligation as of December 31, 2022     1,981,655 
Actuarial (gain)/loss due to assumption changes     (594,309)
Actuarial (gain)/loss due to plan experience     (222,700)
Accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, 2022   $ 1,164,646 

 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances
of the plan assets is provided in the table below:
 
As of December 31, 2020   $ 2,444,559 
Actual return on plan asset     199,755 
Contributions paid by employer     95,527 
Ordinary contributions paid by employees     95,527 
Contributions paid by plan participants     1,036,252 
Benefits paid     (22,148)
Settlements     (1,326,265)
As of December 31, 2021     2,523,207 
Actual return on plan asset     (333,403)
Contributions paid by employer     89,192 
Ordinary contributions paid by employees     89,192 
Contributions paid by plan participants     131,412 
Benefits paid     (20,470)
Settlements     (891,115)
As of December 31, 2022   $ 1,588,015 
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Note 7 – Defined Benefit Pension Plan (cont.)
 
Projected benefit payments for the next five years
as of December 31, 2023 are as follows:
 
Years ending December 31,      
2023   $ - 
2024     - 
2025     87,623 
2026     88,704 
2027     89,786 
Thereafter     627,421 
Total   $ 893,534 

 
Note 8 – Related Parties
 
As described in Note 4, the Company has several
borrowings from shareholders and members of its board of directors.
 
During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
 the Company paid approximately $319,000 and $289,000 to entities owned by a member of
executive management and two members of the board
 of directors for professional services. These amounts are included within ‘general and
administrative’ expenses in the accompanying
statements of comprehensive loss.
 
Note 9 – Income Taxes
 
The Company has established deferred tax assets
 and liabilities for the recognition of future deductions or taxable amounts and operating loss carry
forwards. Deferred federal income
tax expense or benefit is recognized as a result of the change in the deferred tax asset or liability during the year using
the currently
enacted tax laws and rates that apply to the period in which they are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established,
if necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts that will more likely than not be realized.
 
During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
a reconciliation of income tax expense at the statutory rate of 24.85% to income tax expense at the
Company’s effective tax rate
is as follows:
 
    2022     2021  
Income tax benefit at statutory rate   $ (507,647)     (24.85)%  $ (559,026)     (24.85)%
Temporary differences     -      0%     -      0%
Permanent differences     59,955      2.94%     41,796      1.85%
Valuation allowance     447,692      21.92%     517,230      23.00%
Provision for federal income taxes   $ -      0%   $ -      0%

 
At December 31, 2022, the Company had approximately
 $18,361,000 of unused net operating loss carry forwards for federal purposes which may be
carried forward for up to seven years. Unused
net operating loss carry forwards may provide future tax benefits, although there can be no assurance that
these net operating losses
will be realized in the future. The tax benefits of these loss carryforward have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. These
losses
may be used to offset future taxable income and, if not fully utilized, begin to expire in the year 2023. The Company’s only significant
deferred tax
assets are those related to its net operating loss carryforwards and pension fund obligations. The Company has no significant
deferred tax liabilities as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Note 9 – Income Taxes (cont.)
 
The following table details the Company’s
net operating loss carry forwards and the related expected expiration dates as of December 31, 2022.
 
Years ending December 31,      
2023   $ 2,126,000 
2024     2,647,000 
2025     2,928,000 
2026     3,356,000 
2027     3,416,000 
2028     2,240,000 
2029     1,648,000 
Total   $ 18,361,000 

 
The Company’s taxes remain open to review
by the relevant taxing authorities generally for five years after the end of the applicable fiscal year end. As of
December 31, 2022 the
only open year subject to examination by taxing authorities is the year ended December 31, 2022.
 
Note 10 – Subsequent Events
 
On December 15, 2023,
the Parent and the Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement which resulted in the Company becoming a wholly owned
subsidiary of
the Parent.  The consummation of the Share Exchange was subject to customary closing conditions
and closed on December 15, 2023. 
 
Concurrently with the
closing of the Share Exchange Agreement, all outstanding convertibles notes as of December 31, 2022 were converted into 83,114
common
stock of the Company and were then purchased by the Parent.
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Exhibit
99.2
 

Proteomedix AG
Condensed Balance Sheets

(unaudited)
 

    September 30,     December 31,  
ASSETS   2023     2022  

Current assets            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,037,425    $ 470,156 
Accounts receivable     116,374      236,683 
Inventory     83,183      95,810 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     7,304      26,280 

Total current assets     1,244,286      828,929 
               
Property and equipment     39,163      40,130 
Right of use asset     140,588      202,739 
Total assets   $ 1,424,037    $ 1,071,798 

               
LIABILITIES AND STOCHOLDERS’ DEFICIT              

Current Liabilities              
Convertible notes payable   $ 5,704,371    $ 4,241,942 
Accrued expenses     230,329      510,578 
Lease liability, current     62,464      67,546 

Total current liabilities     5,997,164      4,820,066 
               
Non-current liabilities              

Convertible notes payable     -      1,406,289 
Note payable     109,251      108,176 
Pension benefit obligation     546,259      393,640 
Operating lease liability     78,124      135,193 

Total liabilities     6,730,798      6,863,364 
               
Stockholders’ deficit              

Common stock par value 1 CHF, authorized 466,555 shares, outstanding at September 30, 2023 and December 31,
2022     466,555      466,555 

Additional paid-in-capital     20,539,478      20,377,905 
Accumulated comprehensive income     610,627      606,583 
Accumulated deficit     (26,923,421)     (27,242,609)

Total stockholders’ deficit     (5,306,761)     (5,791,566)
               
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit   $ 1,424,037    $ 1,071,798 

 
The
accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Proteomedix AG

Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

(unaudited)
 
    2023     2022  
             
Revenue   $ 2,092,761    $ 128,773 
               
Cost of goods sold     22,548      28,176 
               
Gross profit     2,070,213      100,597 
               
Operating expenses              

Marketing and business development     151,478      172,478 
Research and development     275,020      262,818 
General and administrative expenses     1,240,875      1,633,860 
Depreciation     9,293      12,966 

Total operating expenses     1,676,666      2,082,122 
               
Income (loss) from operations     393,547      (1,981,525)
               
Other income (expense)              

Interest expense     (74,359)     (48,257)
               
Total other income (expenses)     (74,359)     (48,257)
               
Net income (loss) before provision for income taxes     319,188      (2,029,782)
               
Provision for income taxes     -      - 
               
Net income (loss)     319,188      (2,029,782)
               
Other comprehensive income (loss)              
               

Foreign currency translation adjustment     172,351      344,957 
Changes in pension benefit obligation     (168,307)     369,287 

               
Total other comprehensive income (loss)     4,044      714,244 
               
Comprehensive income (loss)   $ 323,232    $ (1,315,538)

 
The
accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Proteomedix AG

Condensed Statement of Stockholders’ Deficit
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

(unaudited)
 

    Common Stock    
Additional 

Paid In    

Accumulated
Comprehensive

(Loss)     Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders’ 
    Shares     Par Value     Capital     Income     Deficit     Deficit  
                                     
Balance at December 31, 2021     412,572    $ 466,555    $20,000,916    $ 431,677    $ (25,200,036)   $ (4,300,888)
                                           
FX translation adjustment     -      -      -      344,957      -      344,957 
                                           
Stock based compensation     -      -      282,742      -      -      282,742 
                                           
Changes in pension benefit obligation     -      -      -      369,287      -      369,287 
                                           
Net loss     -      -      -      -      (2,029,782)     (2,029,782)
                                           
Balance at September 30, 2022     412,572    $ 466,555    $20,283,658    $ 1,145,921    $ (27,229,818)   $ (5,333,684)

                                           
Balance at December 31, 2022     412,572    $ 466,555    $20,377,905    $ 606,583    $ (27,242,609)   $ (5,791,566)
                                           
FX translation adjustment     -      -      -      172,351      -      172,351 
                                           
Stock based compensation     -      -      161,573      -      -      161,573 
                                           
Changes in pension benefit obligation     -      -      -      (168,307)     -      (168,307)
                                           
Net income     -      -      -      -      319,188      319,188 
                                           
Balance at September 30, 2023     412,572    $ 466,555    $20,539,478    $ 610,627    $ (26,923,421)   $ (5,306,761)

 
The accompanying notes are
an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Proteomedix AG

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

(unaudited)
 
    2023     2022  
Operating activities            

Net income (loss)   $ 319,188    $ (2,029,782)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              

Depreciation and amortization     9,293      12,966 
Stock based compensation     161,573      282,742 
Changes in pension benefit obligation     (15,688)     47,042 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:              
Accounts receivable     120,309      46,462 
Inventory     12,627      10,177 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     18,976      63,107 
Accrued expenses     (280,249)     89,382 

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities     346,029      (1,477,904)
               
Investing activities:              
      -      - 

Cash used in investing activities     -      - 
               
Financing activities:              

Repayment of notes payable     -      (50,000)
Cash used in financing activities     -      (50,000)

               
FX effect on cash     221,240      (91,064)
               
Net change in cash and cash equivalents     567,269      (1,618,968)
               
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year     470,156      2,546,801 
               
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year   $ 1,037,425    $ 927,833 

               
Supplemental cash flow disclosures              

Interest paid   $ -    $ 1,965 
Income taxes paid   $ -    $ - 

 
The accompanying notes are
an integral part of these financial statements.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 1 – Organization and Nature of Business
 
Proteomedix AG (the “Company”) is
 a healthcare company whose mission is to transform prostate cancer diagnosis. Proteomedix has identified novel
biomarker signatures with
utility in prostate cancer diagnosis, prognosis and therapy management. The lead product Proclarix® is a blood-based
prostate
cancer test panel and risk score currently available in Europe and expected to be available in the U.S. in the near future. Proteomedix
is located in the Bio-
Technopark of Zurich-Schlieren, Switzerland.
 
On December 15, 2023, the Company was acquired
by Onconetix, Inc. (formerly Blue Water Biotech, Inc) (the “Parent”). The Parent issued stock of its
common stock in exchange
for 100% of the outstanding voting equity of the Company. See Note 10.
 
Note 2 – Going Concern
 
The accompanying condensed financial statements
 have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates,
among other things, the realization of assets
and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023,
the Company had an accumulated
deficit of approximately $27,000,000 and a working capital deficit of approximately $4,800,000, and a lack of profitable
operational history.
These matters, among others, raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
 
While the Company is attempting to generate greater
revenues, the Company’s cash position may not be significant enough to support the Company’s daily
operations. Management
 intends to raise additional funds from its Parent to sustain operations until such time as revenues are sufficient to support the
Company’s
operations. Management believes that the actions presently being taken to further implement its business plan and generate revenues provide
the opportunity for the Company to continue as a going concern. While the Company believes in the viability of its strategy to generate
revenues and the
ability of its Parent to provide additional funds, there can be no assurances to that effect. The ability of the Company
to continue as a going concern is
dependent upon the Company’s ability to further implement its business plan and obtain additional
funding from its Parent as needed.
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies
 
Basis of Presentation
 
The accompanying condensed financial statements
of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (“U.S.
 GAAP”) and interim reporting rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and should be read in
conjunction
with the audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, and notes thereto. In the opinion of management,
all
adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments (unless otherwise indicated), necessary for a fair presentation of the financial
position and the
results of operations for the interim periods presented have been reflected herein. The results of operations for interim
periods are not necessarily indicative
of the results to be expected for the full year.
 
The functional currency of the Company is the
Swiss Franc and the Company’s condensed financial statements are presented in United States Dollars
(USD). Transactions denominated
 in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the
transaction. The
resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
 
Segment
Information 
 
Operating
segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief
operating
decision maker (“CODM”), or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
The Company operates in one
segment which is consistent with the financial information regularly reviewed by the CODM for purposes of
evaluating performance, allocating resources,
setting incentive compensation targets, and planning and forecasting for future periods.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
Use of Estimates

 
The preparation
of condensed financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed financial
 statements and the
reported amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant estimates in the Company’s condensed
 financial statements relate to
valuation of inventory, stock-based compensation, pension benefit obligations, and the valuation allowance
 of deferred tax assets resulting from net
operating losses. These estimates and assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience
 and various other factors believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the recording of
expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ materially and adversely from these estimates. To the extent there are
material differences between the estimates and
actual results, the Company’s future results of operations will be affected.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
For purposes
of reporting cash flows, the Company has defined cash and cash equivalents as all cash in banks and highly liquid investments available
for
current use with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company had no cash equivalents as of September
30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022.
 
The Company
 maintains its cash balances at financial institutions that are insured by Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (“FINMA”).
The
Company’s cash balances may at times exceed the insurance provided by FINMA. The Company has not experienced any losses on these
accounts and
management does not believe that the Company is exposed to any significant risks related to excess deposits.
 
Accounts Receivable
 
The Company
 performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and extends credit to virtually all of its customers
 on an
uncollateralized basis. Credit losses to date have been insignificant and within management’s expectations. The Company provides
 an allowance for
doubtful accounts that is based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection information, expected
future losses, and existing economic
conditions. Normal accounts receivable are due 30 days after the issuance of the invoice. Receivables
are considered delinquent based on management’s
assessment of the individual balance. Delinquent receivables are evaluated for collectability
 based on individual credit evaluation and specific
circumstances of the customer. As of September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, the
Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts was nil, respectively.
The Company did not write off any accounts receivable against the
allowance for doubtful accounts during the periods ended September 30, 2023, and
2022. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
substantially all accounts receivable are due from a single customer.
 
Inventories
 
Inventories consist of raw materials and finished
goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined on a first-in,
first-out basis. The Company
 periodically reviews the composition of inventory in order to identify excess, obsolete, slow-moving or otherwise non-
saleable items taking
into account anticipated future sales compared with quantities on hand, and the remaining shelf life of goods on hand. If non-saleable
items are observed and there are no alternate uses for the inventory, the Company records a write-down to net realizable value in the
period that the decline
in value is first recognized. The Company had no inventory reserves as of September 30, 2023, and December 31,
2022.
 

6



 

 
Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
Impairment
of Long-Lived Assets
 
The Company
reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets may not be fully recoverable (a “triggering event”). Factors that the Company considers in deciding when to perform
an impairment review include
significant underperformance of the long-lived asset in relation to expectations, significant negative industry
or economic trends, and significant changes or
planned changes in the use of the assets. If an impairment review is performed to evaluate
a long-lived asset for recoverability, the Company compares
forecasts of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the long-lived asset to its carrying value. An impairment
loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash
flows expected to result from the use of an asset are less than its carrying amount. The
impairment loss would be based on the excess
of the carrying value of the impaired asset over its fair value, determined based on discounted cash flows.
During the periods ended September
30, 2023, and 2022, the Company did not identify any impairments related to its long-lived assets.
 
Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment consists of computers and
 office furniture and fixtures, all of which are recorded at cost. Depreciation is recorded using the
straight-line method over the respective
useful lives of the assets ranging from two to ten years. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. Upon the retirement or other disposition of property and
equipment,
the related cost and accumulated depreciation are charged to operations.
 
Research and Development Costs
 
Research and development expenses are those costs
incurred in the discovery, design, and development of new products, processes, or services, as well as
the enhancement of existing products.
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred unless such costs have an alternative future use. These
costs include, but are
not limited to, salaries, wages, benefits, materials, equipment, and overhead directly attributable to the research and development
activities.
 
Collaborative Agreements 
 
The Company periodically enters into strategic
alliance agreements with counterparties to produce products and/or provide services to customers. Alliances
created by such agreements
are not legal entities, have no employees, no assets and have no true operations. These arrangements create contractual rights
and the
Company accounts for these alliances as a collaborative arrangement by reporting costs incurred and reimbursements received from transactions
within research and development expense within the statements of comprehensive loss.
 
Commitments And
Contingencies
 
Liabilities
for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties and other sources are recorded when management assesses
that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
 
Share Based Compensation
 
The Company
 accounts for equity instruments issued in exchange for the receipt of goods or services from other than employees in accordance with
Financial
Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) Account Standard Codification (“ASC”) 718, “Compensation – Stock
Compensation”. Costs are measured
at the estimated fair value of the consideration received or the estimated fair value of the equity
instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable.
The value of equity instruments issued for consideration other than employee
 services is determined on the earliest of a performance commitment or
completion of performance by the provider of goods or services as
defined by ASC 718.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
Income Taxes
 
In accordance
with ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” the Company provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of such assets
is more likely
than not. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement and tax
basis of assets and liabilities that
will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable
to the periods in which the differences are expected
to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to
reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income
tax expense is the tax payable or refundable for the period plus
or minus the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
 
In addition,
 the Company’s management performs an evaluation of all uncertain income tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course
 of
preparing the Company’s income tax returns to determine whether the income tax positions meet a “more likely than not”
standard of being sustained under
examination by the applicable taxing authorities. This evaluation is required to be performed for all
open tax years, as defined by the various statutes of
limitations, for federal and state purposes. If the Company has interest or penalties
associated with insufficient taxes paid, such expenses are reported in
income tax expense.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
The Company recognized revenue when control of
goods or services performed is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we
expect to be entitled to in exchange
for those services. ASC 606 provides for a five-step model that includes:

 
(i) identifying the contract with a customer,
(ii) identifying the performance obligations in the contract,
(iii) determining the transaction price,
(iv) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations,
and
(v) recognizing revenue when, or as, an entity satisfies a performance
obligation.

 
Product
Sales
 
The Company derives revenue through sales of its
products directly to end users and to distributors. The Company sells its products to customers including
laboratories, hospitals, medical
centers, doctors and distributors. The Company considers customer purchase orders, which in some cases are governed by
master sales agreements
or standard terms and conditions, to be the contracts with a customer. For each contract, the Company considers the promise to
transfer
 products, each of which are distinct, to be the identified performance obligations. In determining the transaction price the Company evaluates
whether the price is subject to refund or adjustment to determine the net consideration to which it expects to be entitled. The Company
 fulfils its
performance obligation applicable to product sales once the product is transferred to the customer.
 
Development
Services
 
The Company
provides a range of services to life sciences customers referred to as “Development Services” including testing for biomarker
discovery,
assay design and development. These Development Services are performed under individual statement of work (“SOW”) arrangements
 with specific
deliverables defined by the customer. Development Services are generally performed on a time and materials basis. During
the performance and through
completion of the service to the customer in accordance with the SOW, we have the right to bill the customer
for the agreed upon price and we recognize
the Development Services revenue over the period estimated to complete the SOW. We generally
identify each SOW as a single performance obligation.
 
Completion
of the service and satisfaction of the performance obligation under a SOW is typically evidenced by access to the data or test made available
to
the customer or any other form or applicable manner of delivery defined in the SOW. However, for certain SOWs under which work is performed
pursuant
to the customer’s highly customized specifications, we have the enforceable right to bill the customer for work completed,
rather than upon completion of
the SOW. For those SOWs, we recognize revenue over a period of time during which the work is performed
based on the expended efforts (inputs). As the
performance obligation under the SOW is satisfied, any amounts earned as revenue and billed
to the customer are included in accounts receivable. Any
revenues earned but not yet billed to the customer as of the date of the condensed
financial statements are recorded as contract assets and are included in
prepaids and other current assets as of the condensed financial
statement date. Amounts recorded in contract assets are reclassified to accounts receivable in
our financial statements when the customer
is invoiced according to the billing schedule in the contract.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
In circumstances where a SOW includes variable
consideration component, the Company estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be
included in the transaction price utilizing
either the expected value method or the most likely amount method, depending on which method is expected to
better predict the amount
of consideration to which the Company will be entitled. The value of variable consideration is included in the transaction price if,
and
to the extent, it is probable that a significant reversal of the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. These estimates are reassessed each reporting period, as required,
and any adjustment required is
recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenue and net income in the period of adjustment.
 
Licensing
Revenues
 
license revenues are determined based on an assessment
of whether the license is distinct from any other performance obligations that may be included in
the underlying licensing arrangement.
 If the customer is able to benefit from the license without provision of any other performance obligations by the
Company and the license
is thereby viewed as a distinct or functional license, the Company then determines whether the customer has acquired a right to
use the
license or a right to access the license. For functional licenses that do not require further substantive development or other ongoing
activities by the
Company, the customer is viewed as acquiring the right to use the license as, and when, transferred and revenues are
generally recorded at a point in time.
For symbolic licenses providing substantial value only in conjunction with other performance obligations
 to be provided by the Company, revenues are
generally recorded over the term of the license agreement using the inputs based on contractual
remaining time for such license. Such other obligations
provided by the Company generally include manufactured products, additional development
 services or other deliverables that are contracted to be
provided during the license term.
 
Royalties associated with licensing arrangements
 are estimated and recognized when sales under supply agreements with commercial licensees are
recorded, absent any contractual constraints
or collectability uncertainties. Royalties which are contingent on meeting certain sales milestones are recorded
when it has become probable
that milestones will be met.
 
The following
table disaggregates the Company’s revenues by type for the periods ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.
 

   
Recognition 

Method   2023     2022  
Product sales   Point in time   $ 40,237    $ 74,390 
Licensing revenues   Point in time     516,359      - 
Development services   Over time     1,536,165      54,383 
        $ 2,092,761    $ 128,773 

 
Financial Instruments
 
The Company’s
 financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, and are accounted for under the
provisions
 of ASC Topic 825, “Financial Instruments”. The carrying amount of these financial instruments, as reflected in the condensed
 financial
statements approximates fair value.
 
Fair Value Measurement
 
ASC Topic
 820, “Fair Value Measurement”, requires that certain financial instruments be recognized at their fair values at our balance
 sheet dates.
However, other financial instruments, such as debt obligations, are not required to be recognized at their fair values, but U.S.
GAAP provides an option to
elect fair value accounting for these instruments. U.S. GAAP requires the disclosure of the fair values of
all financial instruments, regardless of whether
they are recognized at their fair values or carrying amounts in our balance sheets. For
financial instruments recognized at fair value, U.S. GAAP requires
the disclosure of their fair values by type of instrument, along with
other information, including changes in the fair values of certain financial instruments
recognized in income or other comprehensive income.
For financial instruments not recognized at fair value, the disclosure of their fair values is provided
below under “Financial Instruments.”
 
Nonfinancial
assets, such as property and equipment, and nonfinancial liabilities are recognized at their carrying amounts in the Company’s balance
sheets.
U.S. GAAP does not permit nonfinancial assets and liabilities to be remeasured at their fair values. However, U.S. GAAP requires
the remeasurement of
such assets and liabilities to their fair values upon the occurrence of certain events, such as the impairment of
property, plant and equipment. In addition, if
such an event occurs, U.S. GAAP requires the disclosure of the fair value of the asset
or liability along with other information, including the gain or loss
recognized in income in the period the remeasurement occurred.
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Proteomedix
AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
The Company
 did not have any assets or liabilities at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 which required remeasurement at the respective
reporting
periods.
 
Convertible Instruments
 
The Company
evaluates and accounts for conversion options embedded in convertible instruments in accordance with ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging
Activities”.
 
U.S. GAAP
 requires companies to bifurcate conversion options from their host instruments and account for them as free-standing derivative financial
instruments according to certain criteria. The criteria include circumstances in which (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the
embedded derivative
instrument are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b)
the hybrid instrument that embodies both the
embedded derivative instrument and the host contract is not re-measured at fair value under
other GAAP with changes in fair value reported in earnings as
they occur and (c) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative instrument would be considered a derivative instrument.
 
The Company
accounts for convertible instruments as follows: Debt discounts under these arrangements are amortized over the term of the related debt
to
their stated date of redemption. Proceeds from these convertible notes are reported under the financing section of the statements of
cash flows. Changes to
the fair value of the derivative liability are reported as adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
 operating activities in the accompanying
statement of cash flows. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023 the Company did not
have any conversion options which required bifurcation
from the host instrument.
 
Defined
Benefit Pension Plan
 
The Company sponsors
 a defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) covering eligible employees. The Plan provides retirement benefits based on
employees’
years of service and compensation levels. The Company recognizes an asset for such plan’s overfunded status or a liability underfunded
status
in its balance sheets. Additionally, the Company measures its plan’s assets and obligations that determine its funded status
as of the end of the year and
recognizes the changes in the funded status in the year in which the changes occur. Those changes are reported
in ‘accumulated other comprehensive loss.
The Company uses actuarial valuations to determine its pension and postretirement benefit
costs and credits. The amounts calculated depend on a variety of
key assumptions, including discount rates and expected return on plan
assets. Current market conditions are considered in selecting these assumptions.
 
The Company’s pension plans are generally
valued using the net asset value (NAV) per share as a practical expedient for fair value provided certain criteria
are met. The NAVs are
determined based on the fair values of the underlying investments in the funds. In circumstances where the criteria are not met, fair
is determined based on the underlying market in which the funds are traded which is generally considered to be an active market.
 
Recently Issued
Accounting Standards
 
During the
period ended September 30, 2023, and subsequently, there were several new accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB. Each of these
pronouncements, as applicable, has been or will be adopted by the Company. Management does not believe the adoption of any of these accounting
pronouncements has had or will have a material impact on the Company’s condensed financial statements.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
In June
 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
 Financial
Instruments,” which requires the Company to measure and recognize expected credit losses for financial assets held and
not accounted for at fair value
through net income. In November 2018, April 2019 and May 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-19, “Codification
 Improvements to Topic 326,
Financial Instruments — Credit Losses,” “ASU No. 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic
326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses,” “Topic
815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments,”
 and “ASU No. 2019-05, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Targeted Transition Relief,” which provided
 additional implementation guidance on the previously issued ASU. The ASU is effective for fiscal years
beginning after Dec. 15, 2019 for
public business entities that meet the definition of an SEC filer, excluding entities eligible to be SRCs as defined by the
SEC. All other
entities, ASU No. 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The adoption of this guidance did not have
a
material impact on the Company’s condensed financial statements.
 
Subsequent Events
 
The Company
has evaluated all transactions through the date the condensed financial statements were issued for subsequent event disclosure consideration.
See Note 10.
 
Note 4 – Debt
 
On March 3, 2010, the Company received a loan
from Venture Kick in the amount of 100,000 CHF. This loan bears no interest, is unsecured and may be
cancelled by the Company at its discretion.
This loan is subordinated to the Company’s other unsubordinated debt. The loan was to be used solely for
business development and
the Company may, at its sole discretion, contribute funds back to Venture Kick to enable that organization to continue its efforts.
As
of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 the balance outstanding was approximately $109,000 and $108,000, respectively.
 
On June 23, 2020, Company entered a convertible
note payable with a financial institution and shareholder of the Company for CHF 550,000 with an
interest rate of 0.50% per annum and
a maturity of September 30, 2024. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion feature in the event of an
equity financing
of the Company. The conversion price in the event of an equity financing is at a 20% discount the share price from the financing. The
holder is also entitled to convert the note upon the occurrence of a sale of the Company or at maturity of the note in both cases without
a discount. This
note was unsubordinated until January 10, 2023, at which point it was also subordinated to all other unsubordinated debts.
The interest rate was changed to
2.50% as of May 1, 2023. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the outstanding balance on this
 note was approximately $601,000 and
$541,000, respectively.
 
On June 23, 2020, Company entered into a series
of convertible notes payable with certain shareholders of the Company for CHF 800,000 with an interest
rate of 0.50% per annum and a maturity
of September 30, 2024. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion feature in the event of an equity
financing greater than
CHF 1,000,000. The conversion price in the event of an equity financing is at a 20% discount the share price from the financing. The
holder
is also entitled to convert the note upon the occurrence of a sale of the Company or at maturity of the note in both cases without a discount.
These
notes payable are subordinated to the Company’s other unsubordinated debt. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
the outstanding balance on
these notes was approximately $874,000 and $865,000, respectively.
 
On October 26, 2020, Company entered into a series
of convertible notes payable with certain members of the board of directors (Note 8) in the total
amount of CHF 161,250 with an interest
rate of 0.25% and a maturity of December 31, 2023. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion
feature at a discount of 20%
 in the event of an equity financing greater than CHF 1,000,000. The holder is also entitled to convert the note upon the
occurrence of
a sale of the Company or at maturity of the note in both cases without a discount. These notes payable are subordinated to the Company’s
other unsubordinated debt. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the outstanding balance on these notes was approximately $177,000
and
$174,000, respectively.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 4 – Debt (cont.)
 
On November 23, 2020, Company entered into a series
of convertible notes payable with certain shareholders of the Company in the total amount of CHF
760,080 with an interest rate of 5% and
a maturity of December 31, 2023. The note provides the holder with an optional conversion feature at a discount of
30% in the event of
an equity financing greater than CHF 1,000,000. The holder is also entitled to convert the note upon the occurrence of a sale of the
Company
or at maturity of the note in both cases without a discount. These notes payable are subordinated to the Company’s other unsubordinated
debt. As
of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the outstanding balance on these notes was approximately $831,000 and $822,000,
respectively.
 
On July 19, 2021, Company entered into a convertible
note payable in the total amount of CHF 3,000,000 with an interest rate of 0.5% and an original
maturity of September 30, 2023 which was
extended to September 30, 2024. The note provides the holder with a mandatory conversion requirement in the
event of an equity financing
greater than CHF 1,000,000. The note is also mandatorily converted in the event certain milestones are achieved related to an
R&D
collaboration project entered separately none of which have been met as of December 31, 2022. The holder is also entitled to convert the
note upon
the occurrence of a sale of the Company or at maturity of the note in both cases without a discount. These notes payable are
subordinated to the Company’s
other unsubordinated debt. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the outstanding balance
on this note was approximately $3,278,000 and
$3,245,000, respectively.
 
The Company did not issue any new notes during
 the nine months ended September 30, 2023, all the changes in the above balances are solely due to
changes exchange rates between USD and
 CHF. All outstanding convertible notes as of December 31, 2022 were converted upon the closing of the
acquisition of the Company by the
Parent. See Note 10.
 
Note 5 – Commitments and Contingencies
 
Leases
 
The Company leases it’s primary office and
lab space at a rate of 5,077 CHF per month. The lease began on February 1, 2012 with an initial period ending
on January 31, 2015. This
rental agreement can be terminated at the end of March, June and September of a given year with a notice of 12 months. If the
Company
wishes to terminate the lease without adhering to the agreed dates, it is liable for the rent and the other tenant obligations until the
 rental is
continued, but the latest until the next contractual termination date. If the rental agreement is not terminated in writing
 by either party after the fixed
contract period has expired, while observing the notice period, it will be extended by two years. As of
September 30, 2023 the remaining period of the lease
is approximately 21 months.
 
The rent expense for the periods ended September
 30, 2023 and 2022 was $57,582 and $54,653 respectively and was included in ‘general and
administrative’ expenses in the accompanying
statements of comprehensive loss. The Company paid $57,582 and $54,653 respectively, in lease payments
during the periods ended September
30, 2023 and 2022, and are included in the Company’s operating cash flows for both periods. The change in lease
expense and lease
cash payments. The change in lease expense from period to period is due to changes in exchange rate between USD and CHF as the
Company’s
minimum monthly lease payments are fixed for the term of the lease.
 
Switzerland social security obligations
 
The Company issued certain stock options during periods prior to December
31, 2022. If the recipients exercise these stock options it may result in the
recognition of additional social security tax due to the
 Switzerland taxing authority. Management assessed the likelihood of this liability having been
incurred as of December 31, 2022 and 2021
 in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies, and determined the likelihood was reasonably possible.
Accordingly, no accrual for this
contingent obligation has been recognized in the accompanying condensed financial statements. Additionally, management
is unable to estimate
an amount or range of amounts related to any amount that may be owed should a recipient exercise a stock option.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 6 – Stockholders’ Deficit
 
Share Capital
 
The Company has several series of common stock
providing the following provisions. In the event of a bankruptcy or liquidation or winding up of the
Company, the holders of Series B3
Common Stock will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Series B2 Common Stock, Series B Common
Stock and Series A Stock
and Ordinary Stock, CHF 65 for each Series B3 Common Share they own.
 
Thereafter, the holders of Series B2 Common Stock
will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Series B Common Stock and Series A Stock
and Ordinary Stock, CHF 60 for each
Series B2 Common Share they own.
 
Thereafter, the holders of Series B Common Stock
will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Series A Common Stock and Ordinary Stock,
CHF 50 for each Series B Common Share
they own.
 
Thereafter, the holders of Series A Common Stock
will be entitled to receive, in advance of the holders of Ordinary Stock, CHF 40 for each Series A
Common Share they own.
 
Thereafter, the other Ordinary Shareholders will
be entitled to receive CHF 40 per Ordinary Share they own and then any remaining assets or proceeds will
be distributed pro rata among
all Shareholders.
 
If there are insufficient assets or proceeds to
pay such amount to the holders of Series B3 Common Stock, the amount available will be paid on a pro rata
basis between the holders of
the Series B3 Common Stock.
 
If, after the full payment of Series B3 Shareholders,
there are insufficient assets or proceeds to pay such amount to the holders of Series B2 Common Stock,
the amount available will be paid
on a pro rata basis between the holders of the Series B2 Common Stock.
 
If, after the full payment of Series B2 Shareholders,
there are insufficient assets or proceeds to pay such amount to the holders of Series B Common Stock,
the amount available will be paid
on a pro rata basis between the holders of the Series B Common Stock.
 
If, after the full payment of Series B Shareholders,
there are insufficient assets or proceeds to pay such amount to the holders of Series A Common Stock,
the amount available will be paid
on a pro rata basis between the holders of the Series A Common Stock.
 
The Company and all Shareholders shall use best
efforts to ensure that any sale, liquidation, disposal of material assets or the entire Company shall be
effectuated so as to be tax efficient,
particularly as regards any applicable withholding tax, and fair with regard to the Shareholders.
 
If in later financing rounds additional preference
rights are granted, then the holders of Series A Common Stock, Series B Common Stock and Series B2
Common Stock shall receive mutatis
mutandis behind the new stock the same rights (taking into account the respective price).”
 
The Series B3 Common Stock shall have the same
rights and obligations under the Shareholder’s Agreement and the Organizational Rules as the Series B
Common Stock and the Series
B2 Common Stock, and thus have the same legal status as the Series B Common Stock and the Series B2 Common Stock.
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 6 – Stockholders’ Deficit
(cont.)
 
As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022
the following number of stock for each series was outstanding:
 
Share Class   Stock  
Ordinary     100,000 
Series A     65,000 
Series B     84,200 
Series B2     83,334 
Series B3     80,038 
Total Outstanding stock     412,572 

 
Stock options
 
The Company has granted various stock options
primarily to employees as incentive-based compensation. During the nine months ended September 30,
2023 and 2022, the Company granted
5,307 and -0-, respectively, stock options and recognized $161,573 and $282,742, respectively, in expense related to
the vesting of outstanding
stock option grants.
 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
 
The following tables details the amounts reclassified
from other comprehensive loss and the related affected line items within the accompanying statements
of comprehensive loss for the periods
ended September 30, 2022 and 2021.
 
    2023     2022     Financial statement
Item description   Amount     Amount     line item
                 
Amortization of gains (losses)   $ (24,876)   $ (4,743)   General and administrative
                   
    $ (24,876)   $ (4,743)    

 
The table below details the components and the
Company’s accumulated other comprehensive loss for the periods ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.
 
    Defined              
    Benefit     Foreign        
    Pension     Currency        
    Items     Items     Total  
Balance as of December 31, 2021   $ 397,709    $ 33,968    $ 431,677 
                      
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications     374,030      344,957      718,987 
                      
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     (4,743)     -      (4,743)
                      
Net current period other comprehensive income     369,287      344,957      714,244 
                      
Balance as of September 30, 2022   $ 766,996    $ 378,925    $ 1,145,921 
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Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 6 – Stockholders’ Deficit
(cont.)
 
Balance as of December 31, 2022   $ 577,601    $ 28,982    $ 606,583 
                      
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications     (143,431)     172,351      28,920 
                      
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     (24,876)     -      (24,876)
                      
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)     (168,307)     172,351      4,044 
                      
Balance as of September 30, 2023   $ 409,294    $ 201,333    $ 610,627 

 
Note 7 – Defined Benefit Pension Plan
 
The Company sponsors a defined benefit pension
plan covering certain eligible employees. The plan provides retirement benefits based on years of service
and compensation levels.
 
The value of the pension obligation is determined
using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC) method. This method sees each period of service as giving rise to
an additional unit of benefit
 entitlements/employee benefits. The value of the Company’s employee benefit obligations for active employees, or the
Projected Benefit
Obligation (PBO), on the reporting date is the same as the present value of the degree of entitlement existing on this date, in terms
of
future salary and pension increases and turnover rates. The valuation of pension obligations of pensioners is made on the basis of
 the present value of
current pensions taking into account future increases in pensions. The service costs (SC) are calculated using the
 present value of the entitlements to
employee benefits earned during the year for which calculations are made.
 
The following significant actuarial assumptions
were used in calculating the benefit obligation and the net periodic benefit cost as of September 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022:
 
    2023     2022  
Discount rate     1.90%    2.30%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets     1.20%    2.30%
Rate of compensation increase     3.00%    3.00%
 
Changes in these assumptions may have a material
impact on the plan’s obligations and costs.
 
The components of net periodic benefit cost for
the periods ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:
 
    2023     2022  
Service cost   $ 69,358    $ 118,310 
Interest cost     31,506      8,080 
Expected return on plan assets     (25,640)     (6,166)
Amortization of net (gain)/loss     (24,876)     (4,743)
Total   $ 50,348    $ 115,481 

 

15



 

 
Proteomedix AG

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
 
Note 8 – Related Parties
 
As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
 the Company has outstanding convertibles notes of approximately $2,422,000 and $2,422,000,
respectively, due to certain shareholders and
directors.
 
During the periods ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, the Company paid approximately $127,500 and $183,400 to entities owned by members of the
board of directors and executive management
for professional services. These amounts are included within ‘general and administrative’ expenses in the
accompanying statements
of comprehensive loss.
 
Note 9 – Subsequent Events
 
On December 15, 2023,
the Parent and the Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement which resulted in the Company becoming a wholly owned
subsidiary of
the Parent.  The consummation of the Share Exchange was subject to customary closing conditions
and closed on December 15, 2023. 
 
Concurrently with the
closing of the Share Exchange Agreement, all outstanding convertibles notes as of December 31, 2022 were converted into 83,114
common
stock of the Company and were then purchased by the Parent.
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Exhibit 99.3
 

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Transaction summary
 
On December 15, 2023,
Onconetix, Inc, a Delaware corporation f/k/a Blue Water Biotech, Inc. (“Onconetix”), entered into a Share Exchange Agreement
(the “Share Exchange Agreement”), by and among (i) Onconetix, (ii) Proteomedix AG, a Swiss Company (“Proteomedix”),
 (iii) each of the holders of
outstanding capital stock or convertible securities of Proteomedix (other than Proteomedix Stock Options)
named therein (collectively, the “Sellers”) and
(iv) Thomas Meier, in the capacity as the representative of Sellers in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Share Exchange Agreement (the
“Sellers’ Representative”).
 
Pursuant
to the Share Exchange Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, the Sellers agreed to sell to Onconetix,
and Onconetix
agreed to buy, all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Proteomedix (the “Purchased Shares”) in
exchange for newly issued shares of common
stock of Onconetix, par value $0.00001 per share (“Common Stock”), and newly issued
shares of preferred stock of Onconetix, par value $0.00001 per
share (“Series B Preferred Stock”), as further described below
 (the “Share Exchange” and the other transactions contemplated by the Share Exchange
Agreement, the “Transactions”).
 
The
consummation (the “Closing”) of the Share Exchange was subject to customary closing conditions and the execution of the Subscription
Agreement
(as defined below) entered into with an investor (the “PMX Investor”). The Share Exchange closed on
December 15, 2023 (the “Closing Date”). 
 
In
full payment for the Purchased Shares, Onconetix issued shares (the “Exchange Shares”) consisting of: (i) 3,675,414 shares
of Common Stock equal to
19.99% of the total issued and outstanding Common Stock prior to the Closing and (ii) 2,696,729 shares of Series
 B Preferred Stock convertible into
269,672,900 shares of Common Stock.
 
Each option to purchase
 shares of Proteomedix (each, a “Proteomedix Stock Option”) outstanding immediately before the Closing, whether vested or
unvested,
 remains outstanding until the Conversion unless otherwise terminated in accordance with its terms. At the Conversion, each outstanding
Proteomedix Stock Option, whether vested unvested, shall be assumed by Onconetix and converted into the right to receive (a) an option
to acquire shares
of Common Stock (each, an “Assumed Option”) or (b) such other derivative security as Onconetix and Proteomedix
may agree, subject in either case to
substantially the same terms and conditions as were applicable to such Proteomedix Stock Option immediately
before the Closing. Each Assumed Option
shall: (i) represent the right to acquire a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product
of (A) the number of Proteomedix Common Shares that
were subject to the corresponding Proteomedix Option immediately prior to the Closing,
multiplied by (B) the Exchange Ratio; and (ii) have an exercise
price (as rounded down to the nearest whole cent) equal to the quotient
of (A) the exercise price of the corresponding Company Option, divided by (B) the
Exchange Ratio.
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In connection with the
Transactions, on December 15, 2023, Onconetix entered into a Subscription Agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with the
PMX Investor for a private placement of $5.0 million of units (the “Units”), each unit comprised of (i) one share of Common
Stock and (ii) one pre-funded
warrant (collectively, the “Warrants”) to purchase 0.3 shares of Common Stock at an exercise
price of $0.001 per share, for an aggregate purchase price per
Unit of $0.25 (the “Purchase Price”). Additional shares are
issuable to the PMX Investor to the extent the PMX Investor continues to hold Common Stock
included in the Units and if the VWAP during
the 270 days following closing is less than the Purchase Price, as set forth in the Subscription Agreement.
Onconetix has not concluded on the adjustment(s) required, if any, to reflect the Subscription Agreement in
 its consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the accompanying pro forma information does not include any adjustments that may be
required related to the Subscription Agreement.
 
The offering is expected
to close following stockholder approval of the issuance of the Conversion Shares. Within 30 days after closing, Onconetix will file
a
resale registration statement with the SEC registering the resale of the Common Stock issuable pursuant to the Subscription Agreement
and the Warrants.
 
Pro forma information
 
The following unaudited
pro forma consolidated financial statements are based on the Company’s audited and unaudited interim historical consolidated
financial
statements and Proteomedix’s audited historical and unaudited interim financial statements as adjusted to give effect to the Company’s
acquisition
of Proteomedix. The unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2023 gives effect to these transactions
as if they occurred on
September 30, 2023. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of operations for the twelve months ended December
31, 2022 and the nine months
ended September 30, 2023 give effect to these transactions as if they occurred on January 1, 2022.
 
The unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial statements should be read together with the Company’s audited historical financial statements, which are
included in the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 9, 2023,
and the most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November
 17, 2023, and
Proteomedix’s audited historical financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 and
the unaudited condensed financial
statements for the period ended September 30, 2023.
 
The unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial information is provided for informational purposes only and is not intended to represent or be indicative of
the
consolidated results of operations or financial position that the Company would have reported had the Proteomedix transaction closed on
 the dates
indicated and should not be taken as representative of our future consolidated results of operations or financial position.
 
The pro forma adjustments
 related to the Agreement are described in the notes to the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information and
principally include
the following:
 

- Pro forma adjustment to eliminate the Proteomedix liabilities converted at the closing of the merger
- Pro forma adjustment to record the merger of the Company and Proteomedix

 
The adjustments to fair
 value and the other estimates reflected in the accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements may be
materially different
 from those reflected in the consolidated Company’s consolidated financial statements subsequent to the merger. In addition, the
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements do not purport to project the future financial position or results of operations
of the consolidated
companies.
 
These unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any anticipated synergies, operating efficiencies or cost savings that may
be
associated with the Agreement. These financial statements also do not include any integration costs the companies may incur related to
the Transactions
as part of combining the operations of the companies.
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ONCONETIX, INC

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

 

   
Onconetix,

Inc.    
Proteomedix

AG    
Transaction
Adjustments     Notes    

Pro-forma
Consolidated  

ASSETS                              
Current assets                              

Cash   $ 7,653,975    $ 1,037,425    $ -            $ 8,691,400 
Accounts receivable     -      116,374      -              116,374 
Inventories     1,419,272      83,183      -              1,502,455 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     467,738      7,304      -              475,042 

Total current assets     9,540,985      1,244,286      -              10,785,271 
                                     
Prepaid expenses, long-term     55,499      -      -              55,499 
Right of use asset     -      140,588      -              140,588 
Property and equipment, net     12,503      39,163      -              51,666 
Deferred offering costs     366,113      -      -              366,113 
Goodwill     -      -      12,096,903      4b, 4d       12,096,903 
Intangible assets     17,906,771      -      55,125,000      4b     73,031,771 
Total assets   $ 27,881,871    $ 1,424,037    $ 67,221,903            $ 96,527,811 

                                     
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                                    
Current liabilities                                    

Accounts payable   $ 3,176,332    $ -    $ -            $ 3,176,332 
Accrued expenses and deferred revenue     1,538,544      230,329      582,764      4c, 4e       2,351,637 
Convertible notes payable     -      5,704,371      (5,704,371)     4c       - 
Notes payable     12,920,093      -      -              12,920,093 
Lease liability, current     -      62,464      -              62,464 
Contingent warrant liability     10,461      -      -              10,461 

Total current liabilities     17,645,430      5,997,164      (5,121,607)             18,520,987 
                                     
Notes payable     -      109,251      -              109,251.00 
Pension benefit obligation            546,259      -              546,259.00 
Operating lease liability     -      78,124      -              78,124 
Total liabilities   $ 17,645,430    $ 6,730,798    $ (5,121,607)           $ 19,254,621 
                                     
Temporary stockholders’ equity                                    
                                     
Redeemable preferred stock, Series B     -      -      61,356,274      4a     61,356,274 
                                     
Stockholders’ equity                                    
Preferred stock     -      -      -              - 
Common stock     183      466,555      (466,518)     4a, 4c, 4d       220 
Additional paid-in-capital     45,297,371      20,539,478      (19,430,696)     4a, 4c, 4d       46,406,153 
Treasury stock, at cost     (625,791)     -      -              (625,791)
Accumulated comprehensive income (loss)     -      610,627      (610,627)     4d     - 
Accumulated deficit     (34,435,322)     (26,923,421)     26,142,119      4d, 4e       (35,216,624)
Total stockholders’ equity of Onconetix, Inc.     10,236,441      (5,306,761)     5,634,278              10,563,958 
                                     
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary     -      -      5,352,958              5,352,958 
                                     
Total stockholders’ equity     10,236,441      (5,306,761)     10,987,236              15,916,916 
                                     
Total liabilities, temporary stockholders’ equity and

stockholders’ equity   $ 27,881,871    $ 1,424,037    $ 67,221,903            $ 96,527,811 
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ONCONETIX, INC

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

 

   
Onconetix,

Inc.    
Proteomedix

AG    
Transaction
Adjustments     Notes    

Pro-forma
Consolidated  

                               
Revenues   $ -    $ 2,092,761    $ -            $ 2,092,761 
                                     
Cost of goods sold     -      22,548      -              22,548 
                                     
Gross profit     -      2,070,213      -              2,070,213 
                                     
Operating expenses                                    

Selling, general and administrative     8,337,615      1,392,353      -              9,729,968 
Research and development     2,148,327      275,020      -              2,423,347 
Depreciation and amortization     -      9,293      2,800,081      4b       2,809,374 
Impairment of deposit on asset purchase agreement     3,500,000      -      -              3,500,000 

Total operating expenses     13,985,942      1,676,666      2,800,081              18,462,689 
Income (loss) from operations     (13,985,942)     393,547      (2,800,081)             (16,392,476)
                                     
Other income (expense)                                    
Loss on extinguishment of note payable     (490,000)     -      -              (490,000)
Interest expense     (483,093)     (74,359)     74,359      4c       (483,093)
Change in fair value of contingent warrant liability     (99,787)     -      -              (99,787)
Total other income (expense)     (1,072,880)     (74,359)     74,359              (1,072,880)
                                     
Net loss     (15,058,822)     319,188      (2,725,722)             (17,465,356)
                                     
Cumulative preferred stock dividends     -      -      -              - 
                                     
Net loss applicable to common stockholders     (15,058,822)     319,188      (2,725,722)             (17,465,356)
                                     

Foreign currency translation adjustment     -      172,351      -              172,351 
                                     

Changes in pension benefit obligation     -      (168,307)     -              (168,307)
                                     
Total other comprehensive (loss) income     -      4,044      -              4,044 
                                     
Comprehensive income (loss) applicable to common

stockholders   $ (15,058,822)   $ 323,232    $ (2,725,722)           $ (17,461,312)

                                     
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic

and diluted   $ (0.92)   $ -              $ (0.87)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,

basic and diluted     16,452,136      -      3,675,414      4a       20,127,550 
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ONCONETIX, INC

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

 

   
Onconetix,

Inc.    
Proteomedix

AG    
Transaction
Adjustments     Notes    

Pro-forma
Consolidated  

                               
Revenues   $ -    $ 392,460    $ -            $ 392,460 
                                     
Cost of goods sold     -      48,429      -              48,429 
                                     
Gross profit     -      344,031      -              344,031 
                                     
Operating expenses                                    

Selling, general and administrative     9,351,552      1,912,258      781,302      4e       12,045,112 
Research and development     4,129,688      393,274      -              4,522,962 
Depreciation and amortization     -      17,492      3,728,341      4b       3,745,833 

Total operating expenses     13,481,240      2,323,024      4,509,643              20,313,907 
Loss from operations     (13,481,240)     (1,978,993)     (4,509,643)             (19,969,876)
                                     
Other income (expense)                                    
Interest expense     -      (63,580)     63,580      4c       - 
Change in fair value of contingent warrant liability     61,410      -      -              61,410 
Total other income (expense)     61,410      (63,580)     63,580              61,410 
                    -              - 
Net loss     (13,419,830)     (2,042,573)     (4,446,063)             (19,908,466)
                                     
Cumulative preferred stock dividends     96,359      -      -              96,359 
                                     
Net loss applicable to common stockholders     (13,516,189)     (2,042,573)     (4,446,063)             (20,004,825)
                                     

Benefit pension obligation changes     -      179,892      -              179,892 
                                     

Foreign currency translation adjustment     -      (4,986)     -              (4,986)
      -      174,906      -              174,906 
                                     
Comprehensive income (loss) applicable to common

stockholders   $ (13,516,189)   $ (1,867,667)   $ (4,446,063)           $ (19,829,919)

                                     
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic

and diluted   $ (1.10)   $ -              $ (1.25)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,

basic and diluted     12,271,449      -      3,675,414      4a       15,946,863 
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED
PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Note 1 — Basis
of Presentation
 
The audited and unaudited
 interim historical consolidated financial statements have been adjusted in the pro forma consolidated financial statements in
accordance
with Article 11 of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Regulation S-X to give effect to pro forma events that are (1) directly
attributable
to the business combination, (2)  factually supportable and (3)  with respect to the pro forma consolidated statements
 of operations, expected to have a
continuing impact on the consolidated results following the business combination.
 
The business combination
was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations.
As
the acquirer for accounting purposes, the Company has estimated the fair value of Proteomedix’s assets acquired and liabilities
assumed and conformed the
accounting policies of Proteomedix to its own accounting policies.
 
The unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial statements are based on the Company’s audited and unaudited interim historical consolidated financial
statements
 and Proteomedix’s audited and unaudited interim historical financial statements as adjusted to give effect to the Company’s
 acquisition of
Proteomedix. The Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2023 gives effect to these transactions
as if they occurred on
September  30, 2023. The Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the nine  months
 ended September  30, 2023 and
twelve months ended December 31, 2022 gives effect to these transactions as if they occurred
on January 1, 2022.
 
The
 allocation of the purchase price used in the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements is based upon a preliminary valuation
 by
management. The final estimate of the fair values of the assets and liabilities will be determined with the assistance of a third-party valuation
firm. The
Company’s preliminary estimates and assumptions are subject to material change upon the finalization of internal studies
 and third-party valuations of
assets, including property and equipment, intangible assets, and
certain liabilities.
 
The Unaudited Pro Forma
Consolidated Financial Statements are provided for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what the
consolidated
company’s financial position and results of operations would have actually been had the transactions been completed on the dates
used to
prepare these pro forma financial statements. The adjustments to fair value and the other estimates reflected in the accompanying
unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial statements may be materially different from those reflected in the consolidated company’s
 consolidated financial statements
subsequent to the transactions. In addition, the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements
 do not purport to project the future financial
position or results of operations of the consolidated companies. Reclassifications and
adjustments may be required if changes to the Company’s financial
presentation are needed to conform Proteomedix accounting policies
to the accounting policies of the Company.
 
These unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any anticipated synergies, operating efficiencies or cost savings that may
be
associated with the transactions. These financial statements also do not include any integration costs the companies may incur related
to the transactions
as part of combining the operations of the companies.

 
Note 2 — Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies
 
The unaudited pro forma
 consolidated financial statements have been prepared in a manner consistent with the accounting policies adopted by the
Company. The accounting
policies followed for financial reporting on a pro forma basis are the same as those disclosed in the 2022 Annual Report on
Form 10-K and
for Proteomedix, the accounting policies followed for financial reporting on a pro forma basis are the same as those disclosed in the
audited
financial statements included in this Proxy Statement.  The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements do not assume
 any differences in
accounting policies among the Company and Proteomedix. The Company is reviewing the accounting policies of Proteomedix
to ensure conformity of such
accounting policies to those of the Company and, as a result of that review, the Company may identify differences
among the accounting policies of the two
companies, that when confirmed, could have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
However, at this time, the Company is not aware
of any difference that would have a material impact on the unaudited pro forma consolidated
financial statements.
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Note 3
— Purchase Price Allocation
 
On December 15, 2023,
the Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement with Proteomedix, a Swiss Company, and its shareholders to acquire all
outstanding
voting interests of Proteomedix. As consideration for the transfer of the Proteomedix voting interests
the Company issued 3,675,414 shares of
common stock and 2,696,729 shares of series B convertible preferred stock.
 
The
 following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price based on the estimated fair value of the acquired assets and
 assumed
liabilities as of September 30, 2023:
 
Purchase price   $ 62,465,093 
        
Cash   $ 1,037,425 
Accounts receivable     116,374 
Inventories     83,183 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     7,304 
Right of use asset     140,588 
Property and equipment, net     39,163 
Trade name     2,399,000 
Customer relations     1,672,000 
Intellectual property     51,054,000 
Accrued expenses     (31,791)
Operating lease liability     (140,588)
Pension benefit obligation     (546,259)
Notes payable     (109,251)
Non-controlling interest     (5,352,958)
Goodwill     12,096,903 
    $ 62,465,093 

 
This
preliminary purchase price allocation has been used to prepare pro forma adjustments in the pro forma consolidated balance sheet and statements
of
comprehensive loss. The final purchase price allocation will be determined when the Company has completed the detailed valuations and
 necessary
calculations. The final allocation could differ materially from the preliminary allocation used in the pro forma adjustments.
The final allocation may include
(1) changes in fair values of property and equipment, (2) changes in allocations to intangible
assets such as trade names and technology, as well as goodwill
and (3) other changes to assets and liabilities.
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In
 accordance with the Agreement, as discussed above, the purchase price includes: (a)  $61,356,274 Series B Preferred Shares and (b)  $1,108,819
 in
common stock. For purposes of these pro forma consolidated financial statements, the Company issued 2,696,729  shares
 of the Company’s Series B
Preferred Stock and 3,675,414 shares of the Company’s
common stock.
 
Note 4 — Pro
Forma Transaction Accounting Adjustments
 
The pro forma transaction
 accounting adjustments are based on our preliminary estimates and assumptions that are subject to change. The following
transaction accounting
adjustments have been reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information:
 
a. This adjustment records (1)  the issuance of 2,696,729 Series B
Preferred Stock, valued at $61,356,274 and (2)  the issuance of 3,675,414 shares of

common stock valued at $1,108,819 based on
a per share price of $0.30, to the sellers and certain creditors of Proteomedix.
 

b. As part of the preliminary valuation analysis, the Company separately identified certain intangible assets with an estimated fair value of $55.1 million.
The fair value was determined primarily using the ‘income approach’, which requires a forecast of the expected future cash flows. Since all the
information required to perform a detailed valuation analysis of Proteomedix’s intangible assets could not be obtained as of the date of this filing, for
purposes of these unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements, the Company used certain assumptions based on publicly available
transactions data for the industry. The Company has estimated useful lives of between 5 and 15 years for the identified intangibles, resulting in an
adjustment of $2.8 million and $3.7 million of amortization expense to the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 and the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, respectively. These numbers may change significantly when the final allocation
of purchase price is calculated.

 
The following table depicts the estimated fair value useful life and
amortization of the acquired intangible assets other than goodwill:
 

Description   Useful life  
Amortization

method   Fair Value  
Trade name   Indefinite   None   $ 2,399,000 
Customer relationships   5 years   Straight-line     1,672,000 
Internally-developed technology   15 years   Straight-line     51,054,000 
Total           $ 55,125,000 

 
Additionally, goodwill
of $12,096,903 was recognized after the recording of the identified assets and liabilities.
 

c. This adjustment records the conversion of the Proteomedix convertible notes payable into 83,114 shares
of common stock of Proteomedix at contract
terms. This adjustment also removes accrued interest and interest expense related to these
convertible notes.

 
d. This adjustment eliminates Proteomedix’s total stockholders’
equity as reported in the unaudited condensed financial statements as of September 30,

2022.
 

e. This adjustment reflects the accrual of the Company’s
estimated total transaction costs for legal and other professional fees and expenses, which are
estimated to be approximately $781,000.
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